2006

# Kelly F. Pearson v. Kimberlee Y. Pearson; Pete D. Thanos : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF GROUNDS ON WHICH JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT IS INVOKED

The provision conferring jurisdiction on the Supreme Court to review the Utah Court of Appeals Adjudication is found at Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(a) (2001).

Appellant’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari was granted on July 21, 2006, pursuant to Rule 51 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. A copy of the Order granting the Petition for Writ of Certiorari is attached hereto as Addendum 1.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in its interpretation and application of the Schoolcraft analysis set forth by this Court in In re J.W.F., 799 P.2d 710 (Utah 1990).

Standard of Review. This issue involves a question of state law which the Court of Appeals has decided in a way that is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court and in which the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings as to call for an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervisory power, pursuant to Rule 46(a)(2) and (3) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ISSUE 2. Whether the Court of Appeals inappropriately relied on the District Court Commissioner's Recommendation which was subsequently vacated by the trial court.

Standard of Review. This issue involves a question of state law which the Court of Appeals has decided in a way that has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings as to call for an exercise for the Supreme Court's power of supervision, pursuant to Rule 46(a)(3) and (4) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ISSUE 3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in denying the Appellants' Petition for Rehearing.

Standard of Review. This issue involves a decision of the Court of Appeals wherein the Court has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, as to call for an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervisory power,

pursuant to Rule 46(a)(3) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

CONTROLLING PROVISIONS OF CONSTITUTIONS, STATUTES, AND  
ORDINANCES

1. Constitution of United States, Article III, Section 1 [Addendum 2].
2. Constitution of United States, Amendment V [Addendum 3].
3. Constitution of Utah, Article I, Section 7 [Addendum 4].
4. Constitution of Utah Article VIII, Sections 1, 4 [Addendum 5].
5. Utah Code Ann. §30-3-10(1)(b) [Addendum 6].
6. Utah Code Ann. §78-45a-10(3)(a)(Repealed 2005) [Addendum 7].
7. Utah Code Ann. §78-45a-10.5 (2002) (Repealed 2005) [Addendum 8].
8. Significant applicable case law is as follows:

In re J.W.F., 799 P.2d 710 (Utah 1990) [Addendum 9].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings and disposition in the court below

This case concerns the question of standing of Intervenor (hereinafter “Pete”) to assert paternity of Zachary Thanos (“Zachary”). Zachary’s biological father is Pete. Kelly F. Pearson (hereinafter “Kelly”) was married to the biological mother, Respondent (hereinafter “Kim”) when Zachary was born on September 14, 1999.

Kelly and Kim separated in May, 2000, and Kelly filed for divorce in December, 2000. (R. 2533 at 465:7-11; 452: 9-11; R. 1-5.) Pete filed a Motion to Intervene in the divorce action in January, 2001. (R. 37-41.) Michael S. Evans, Domestic Relations

Commissioner, heard the Motion to Intervene and recommended that Pete's Motion be denied. (R. 671-75.) Pete and Kim filed a timely Objection to the Commissioner's Recommendation. (R. 257.) An Order was signed on October 17, 2001, based upon the Commissioner's Recommendation, specifically noting that the signed Order was subject to the pending Objection (R. 675.) The Honorable Judge Tyrone E. Medley heard Pete and Kim's Objection to Commissioner's Recommendation, (R. 684) and granted Pete's Motion to Intervene on November 7, 2002, and vacated the earlier Order of October 17, 2001 (R. 971-72). Judge Medley's granting of the Motion to Intervene and the sustaining of the objection were based upon his examination of the facts of the case, proffered testimony, pleadings, affidavits and completion of two Schoolcraft reports by Dr. Jill Sanders, the custody evaluator who had been stipulated to by Kelly and Kim. (Intervenor's Ex. 2,4.) Dr. Sanders' May 13, 2002 report is attached as Addendum 10. Dr. Sanders' August 26, 2002, report is attached as Addendum 11. Judge Medley's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in re: Motion for Intervention and Order are attached as Addendum 12 and Addenda 13, respectively.

Subsequent to the court granting Pete's Motion to Intervene, Kelly filed a Petition for Extraordinary Relief, as well as a Motion for Stay seeking to prevent the trial court from proceeding with Pete as intervenor. The Motion for Stay was summarily denied by an Order dated, December 16, 2002, (R. 1364-68.) The Court of Appeals' memorandum decision, filed January 9, 2003, dismissed the petition. (R. 1634-35.)

Pete filed a Motion for Summary Judgment to declare that he was the biological



and natural father of Zachary and entitled to rights of custody and parent time. (R. 989-90.) On May 5, 2003, the trial court granted Pete's Motion for Summary Judgment and denied the Motion for Summary Judgment of Kelly. (R. 1745-47.) A copy of the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law stemming from that Motion are attached as Addendum 14. (See R. 1723-41.)

Kelly filed a Petition for Permission to Appeal Interlocutory Order which was denied by an Order of the Court of Appeals dated July 3, 2003. (R. 1784.)

The case was tried to Judge Medley on April 1, 2, 5-8, 2004. On May 11, 2004, Judge Medley published his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which, among other things, found that it was in the best interest of Zachary that Kim and Pete be awarded primary physical custody of Zachary and that Zachary's surname be changed to Thanos. The court's conclusions were incorporated in a Supplemental Decree of Divorce on July 12, 2004. (R. 2503-14.) Dr. Jill Sanders' Child Custody Evaluation, copies of the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Supplemental Decree of Divorce are attached as Addendum 15, 16 and 17, respectively.

Kelly appealed the Order of Judge Medley. (R. 2518.) Although Kelly's Notice of Appeal was from "the entire judgment," Kelly's appeal focused on the right of Pete to intervene in the case and on the award of custody of Zachary and his brother, Nicholas.

On appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals found that even though Pete was Zachary's biological father, he did not meet the Schoolcraft test for standing to petition for custody. The Court of Appeals decision is attached as Addendum 18. On April 7, 2006, Kim and

Pete filed a Petition for Rehearing, asking for clarification as to whether the Court of Appeals' decision permitted the trial court, on remand, to consider Pete's status as Zachary's biological father in a new custody order under C.J.A. Rule 4-903, and whether the trial court could rely on Dr. Sanders' prior custody evaluation. This Petition was denied. (Addendum 19). Kim and Pete filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on June 19, 2006 (Addendum 1), which was granted by the Order of the Court dated July 21, 2006.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Kelly and Kim were married on August 17, 1992, and separated in May, 2000. (R.2532 at 387:19; 2533 at 465:7-11.)

During Kim and Kelly's marriage, they had a son, Nicholas, who was born on July 6, 1997. (Finding. 1, R. 2434-35; See Addendum 16.) A second child, Zachary, was conceived during the marriage. (Finding. 2, R. 2435; See Addendum 16.) Several months before Zachary's birth, Kim informed Kelly that Pete was Zachary's father (Finding. 2, R. 2435; See Addendum 16; R. 2535 at 1050:15-20; R. 2532 at 433:1-9, 23-24.) Approximately two weeks after Zachary's birth on September 14, 1999, Pete and Kim approached Kelly and had further discussions about Zachary's paternity and the fact that Pete was the father. (R. 303, ¶ 2.) Pete first saw Zachary when he was two weeks of age and again when he was a month old. (R. 77, ¶ 7.) For a period of time thereafter, Kelly prevented Pete from visiting with Zachary. It wasn't until after the separation of Kelly and Kim that Pete had an opportunity to develop his relationship and bond with Zachary. (R. 77 ¶¶ 7-8; See R. 2533 at 465:7-11.) During this period, Pete placed

approximately ten phone calls per week to Kim and received daily and updates from Kim on Zachary's development. Pete kept pictures of the child in his desk and received written notes from Kim apprising him of how Zachary was doing. (R. 78 ¶ 10.)

The relationship between Kelly and Kim had deteriorated and was unsatisfactory even prior to the romantic relationship of Kim and Pete. (R. 2535 at 1031:8-22, 1032:21 to 1033:20 (Kelly was unsupportive when Kim miscarried); R.2535 at 1035:1-23 (Kelly took only one-half day off when Nicholas was born).)

At the time of Zachary's conception and birth, Pete was married. His then wife was dying of ovarian cancer. Pete and his then wife lived in Portland, Oregon, and Pete was the sole source of emotional and physical support throughout her medical care, surgeries and treatment. Pete did not tell his wife about Kim or Zachary during the last months of her life, because he felt that the traumatizing effect of the revelation would undermine her battle with cancer and make her succumb to the disease faster. Further, he wished to remain with her to assist her with the final months of her life, and he felt that if she knew about the relationship with Kim, she would not allow him to support her through her fight with cancer. (Finding, No. 6, R. 2436-37; See Addendum 16; R 75-76 ¶¶ 4-5.)

Following Kim's disclosure of her pregnancy, Kim and Kelly attempted to work out their differences, with Kim telling Kelly that she would try to make the marriage work if he would not punish her and Zachary. (R. 2535 at 1056:4-22.) Further, Kelly and Kim discussed the role which Pete would have in raising Zachary and Kelly promised that he would, "... do whatever I can to help him have as much of a role as he wants with the

baby.” (R. 2535 at 1056:25 to 1057:6.) It was quickly clear to Kim, however, that a continued marital relationship between her and Kelly was not going to work. (R. 2535 at 1061:15-24, 1062:7-15.) Kelly placed restrictions and rules on Kim’s ability to communicate with Pete, which she did not agree to, (R. 2535 at 1058:6-22) and Kelly was upset and not supportive during the pregnancy (R. 2535 at 1061:15 to 1062:15). Despite Kim’s suggestion to Kelly that they participate in counseling, Kelly refused. (R. 2535 at 1064:2-19.) Subsequent to Zachary’s birth, Kelly was aware that Kim frequently spoke to Pete and knew that the continuation of the marriage was unlikely. (R. 2532 at 437:4-20.)

Kelly and Kim’s separation in May, 2000, was approximately eight months after Zachary’s birth. (R. 2533 at 452:9-11, 581:18-21.) Pete’s wife passed away in December, 2000. (Finding. 6, R. 2436-37.) Kelly filed his Complaint for Divorce on December 27, 2000. (R. 1-5.) Kim filed her Answer and Counterclaim on January 23, 2001. (R. 17.) Pete filed his Verified Motion to Intervene on January 23, 2001, one month following his wife’s death. (R. 37-41.)

Pete’s ongoing contact with Zachary continued to increase. (R. 187-88.) Pete began to spend a significant amount of time with Zachary, established a bond and displayed the type of interest in supporting Zachary that a parent of a minor child would show (R. 188), including providing financial support (R. 78, ¶ 9). During this time period, Pete and Kim’s relationship continued, and in pleadings filed with the court, they made clear their intention to marry once the divorce between Kelly and Kim was final. (R. 28, ¶ 9 and R. 76, ¶ 5.)

Shortly after the filing of Pete's Motion to Intervene, Pete, Kim and Kelly met several times with a mediator and, also, involved a therapist, Dr. Jay Thomas, in three sessions of the mediation. (R. 2533 at 651:3 to 652:5; R. 2535 at 925:4 to 926:25.)

From the commencement of the litigation, Kelly admitted that Pete was the father of Zachary. (See Complaint for Divorce and Custody Order, R. 2 ¶ 7, R. 4 ¶ b, ("[I]ntervenor is the natural father of Zachary"). In initial pleadings, Kim also identified Pete as the father of Zachary. (R. 28, ¶ 4.) Indeed, Pete obtained conclusive DNA paternity test results which were then filed in the District Court. (R.165-69, 999, 1004.) The provision of these conclusive paternity DNA results was governed by Utah Code Ann. §78-45a-10(3)(a)(repealed 2005).

Utah Code Ann. §78-45a-10 (2002) (repealed 2005) ("Effect of genetic test results") provides in relevant part:

- (1) Genetic test results shall be admissible as evidence of paternity without the need to foundation testimony or other proof of authenticity or accuracy if:
  - (a) of a type generally acknowledged as reliable by accreditation bodies designated by the federal Secretary of Health and Human Services;
  - (b) performed by a laboratory approved by such an accreditation body; and
  - (c) not objected to with particularity and in writing with 15 days after the written test result being sent to the parties.
- (3) (a) A man is presumed to be the natural father of a child if genetic testing results in a paternity index of at least 150.
- (4) if a presumption of paternity is established under Subsection (1) is not rebutted by a second genetic test under Subsection (2), the Court shall issue an order establishing paternity.

Kelly filed an Objection to Admissibility to Genetic Test Results and Motion to Strike on November 27, 2002, but nowhere within that Objection did Kelly object to the

accuracy of the tests. (R. 1298-1300.) Further, that Objection was not filed until fifteen (15) months after the test results were filed with the court by Pete on August 1, 2001. Further, there was no request for, nor was a second genetic test conducted, as allowed for or contemplated by Utah Code Ann. §78-45a-10 (2002) (repealed 2005).

On August 29, 2001 Kelly and Kim stipulated to the appointment of Dr. Jill Sanders as a custody evaluator. (R. 249-50.) Dr. Sanders is a well known and well respected custody evaluator who received her PhD in clinical psychology from the University of Utah in 1987. (R. 2534 at 672:3-6.) She has performed custody evaluations in the State of Utah since 1983 or 1984 and has focused on that area of her practice since 1989 or 1990. (R. 2534 at 674:13-16.) She has performed approximately 200 to 250 custody or parenting capacity evaluations. (R. 2534 at 675:2-6.) She had testified in Utah courts approximately fifty times. (R. 2534 at 675:17-21.)

Mediation was unsuccessful and Pete's Motion to Intervene was heard by Commissioner Michael S. Evans, August 30, 2001. At the time of the hearing, Commissioner Evans recommended to Judge Medley that Pete's Motion to Intervene be denied. (R. 671-77.) Judge Medley signed Commissioner Evans Recommendation on October 17, 2001, but did so subject to the Objections, which were then pending to the Commissioner's Recommendation. (R. 675.) A copy of the referenced Order is attached as Addendum 20.

As noted, Pete timely filed an "Objection to Recommendation" of Commissioner (R. 257-301) with a supporting memorandum (R. 302-83). Following the initial hearing

on the Objection to Recommendation, and by an Order dated March 7, 2002, Judge Medley requested the assistance of the stipulated custody evaluator, Dr. Jill Sanders, prior to the court entering a final ruling. (R. 729-30, ¶¶ 2-3.) He asked Dr. Sanders to evaluate the matter and report back to the court and to include in her analysis a consideration of the factors described in State In re J.W.F., 799 P.2d 710 (Utah 1990). (R. 729-30, ¶¶ 2-3.) Dr. Sanders produced her report on May 13, 2002. (Intervenor's Exhibit I-2, attached to this brief as Addendum 10 (hereinafter referred to as the "Schoolcraft Report"). Thereafter, by a letter dated August 26, 2002, Dr. Sanders supplemented her Schoolcraft Report by providing additional information which had been requested by Kelly's attorney. (Intervenor's Exhibit I-4: Addendum 11).

Subsequent to substantial briefing and argument of the case, the court entered an Order, which specifically vacated the earlier Order on Motion to Intervene, which had been recommended by Commissioner Evans. (R. 736 ¶ 4, attached as Addendum 13.) The court also granted Pete's Motion to Intervene and granted Pete standing to establish Zachary's paternity. (R. 971-72.) In the granting of the Motion to Intervene, the Court made very specific Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 975-84; Addendum 12.)

The court, within its Findings, set forth the procedure that the court had followed in order to determine whether Pete's Motion to Intervene should be granted. (R. 978-79.) The court pointed out that it had initially reviewed an Affidavit of Dr. Goldsmith that had been submitted by Kelly, but that Dr. Goldsmith's Affidavit was not case specific and was of little help to the court. Therefore, in order to address, in particular the second

prong of the Schoolcraft policies, Dr. Jill Sanders was appointed to provide input and an evaluation. (R. 979, ¶ 11.) The court found that Dr. Sanders' first report, dated May 13, 2002, stated that she was of the opinion that from "a developmental and psychological perspective, Zachary's functioning was not inherently disrupted by Peter Thanos' involvement," and that "Peter Thanos' relationship with Zachary was necessary to Zachary's normal and positive development." The court explained further that upon receipt of that first report, Kelly requested further clarification and the court permitted Kelly's counsel to address the court with a letter outlining her concerns and make further requests of Dr. Sanders. Based upon Kelly's Motion and letter, the court directed Dr. Sanders to provide a further analysis as to the impact to the relationship between Kelly and Zachary. (R. 980, ¶ 13.) It should be noted that this additional analysis goes beyond the two-prong analysis and policies set forth in Schoolcraft, which are that the court consider (1) preserving the stability of the marriage and (2) protecting children from disruptive and unnecessary attacks on their paternity. In re J.W.F., 799 P.2d, 710, 713 (Utah 1990).

Subsequent to hearing, the court found that according to DNA test results from the University of Utah dated March 6, 2001, Pete was the biological father of the child. The court specifically noted that while paternity had yet to be determined, given the need to address the standing issue first, Kelly had admitted that he was not the biological father of the child. (R. 976 ¶ 1.) The court found that Pete resided in the State of Oregon and that Kelly and Kim and the children resided in the State of Utah, but that Pete had ongoing



contact with the child commencing February, 2001. (R. 978, ¶ 7.)

Judge Medley found, after receipt of Dr. Sanders' Supplemental Report, dated August 26, 2002, that the primary disruption in Zachary's relationship with Kelly occurred at the date of Kim and Kelly's separation when Zachary was approximately nine months of age. (R. 980-81 ¶ 14.) The court noted that Dr. Sanders had found that by eighteen months, Zachary was firmly established in a loving, secure and relatively predictable relationship with Kelly, Kim and Pete and that there was no reason why the presence of Pete as another loving caretaker should have any further disruptive impact. (R. 980-81, ¶ 14.) The court also noted that Kim and Pete planned to marry and if they did marry, as indicated by Dr. Sanders, Pete would then have a role as a step-father and that his status, as also being Zachary's biological father, inherently escalated the importance of that relationship. (R. 981, ¶ 17.) The court found that, based upon the quality of the relationship that Zachary and Pete had and the likelihood that Zachary and Pete would have extensive contact in their future, that their attachment was likely to deepen and become more significant over time and that Zachary would likely develop a full father/ son attachment to Pete because Zachary was still young and because Zachary and Pete had had contact since infancy. (R. 982, ¶ 18.)

The court fully considered the criteria applicable to the facts of the present case, as set forth in Schoolcraft, and found that Pete should had standing to intervene. This analysis was based on a careful analysis of both the first and second prongs of the Schoolcraft "test."

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