2006

Kelly F. Pearson v. Kimberlee Y. Pearson; Peter D. Thanos : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals was not required to defer to the trial court’s application of the facts bearing on the standing inquiry in this case, nor to the trial court’s findings of fact, as the former analysis involves policy questions and legal conclusions that are the proper province of the appellate courts, and the latter were based on the trial court’s review of the written record only, which the Court of Appeals was equally well situated to review.

The Court of Appeals did not err in applying the standing analysis set forth by this Court in State In re J.W.F., 799 P.2d 710 (Utah 1990) (“Schoolcraft”) to the facts of this case. The Court of Appeals properly took a broader view of the policy concern of protecting marriage than was taken by the trial court – concluding that the policy concern did not lose all relevance simply because the Pearsons’ marriage ultimately dissolved. This is particularly so in light of the Utah Uniform Parentage Act, enacted in this state in 2005, which departs from the Uniform Act by denying standing to adjudicate the paternity of a marital child to anyone but the husband or wife, even in the context of divorce proceedings.

Thanos does not have a constitutionally protected right to establish his paternity of a child born into Father's marriage. Even if he did have such a constitutionally protected right, he waived it by failing to timely assert it.

The Court of Appeals' references to the findings of the trial court in its October 2001 order were immaterial to its opinion. The essential findings – though not the conclusions – were subsequently confirmed by Dr. Sanders' reports. The Court of Appeals correctly relied on the findings contained in Dr. Sanders' reports, rejecting her superfluous conclusions, in applying the policy concern of protecting children from disruptive attacks on their paternity.

The Court of Appeals' opinion is not ambiguous in its implications for the trial court's custody determinations in this case, and on remand the trial court should be instructed that Father is entitled to a new custody evaluation and a new custody trial, free from the inclusion of an improper third party and based on proper custody factors, not "biology."

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY APPLIED THE POLICY CONSIDERATIONS ARTICULATED BY THIS COURT IN SCHOOLCRAFT

Mother and Thanos (collectively "Petitioners") articulate numerous reasons why they feel the Court of Appeals "wholly disregarded" the policy considerations articulated by this Court in In re J.W.F., 799 P.2d 710 (Utah 1990) ("Schoolcraft") and should be reversed. Petitioners' arguments do not accurately convey the court of appeals' opinion, slant the record facts, cite facts inapposite to the Schoolcraft analysis, and assume erroneous standards of review. Father responds to the arguments advanced by Petitioners as follows.

A. The Court of Appeals Did Not Err In Its Review of Thanos's Standing to Challenge Zachary's Paternity, Nor In Its Review of the Facts Bearing on This Issue

Petitioners argue, in relation to several substantive points, that the Court of Appeals erroneously substituted its own findings of fact for findings of the trial court. Petitioners cite Willey v. Willey, 951 P.2d 226, 234 (Utah 1997), an alimony case in which the trial court made findings of fact after trial, in support of this argument. The principle articulated in Willey – that the appellate court must not usurp the prerogative of the trial court and make its own independent determinations – does not apply in this case.

The Court of Appeals addressed only one issue raised in Father's appeal, namely, whether the trial court erred in the standing analysis it employed in granting Thanos's motion to intervene. As this Court has stated, "The question of whether a given individual or association has standing to request a particular relief is primarily a question of law, although there may be factual findings that bear on the issue." Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Wilkinson, 946 P.2d 372, 373 (Utah 1997). The standing determination implicates important policy considerations, as to which trial courts are granted minimal discretion. Id. at 374; cf. State v. Vincent, 883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994) (determining normative consequence of particular facts is the province of appellate courts). Thus, in contrast to Willey where the trial court was entitled to "considerable discretion" in fashioning an alimony award, see Willey v. Willey, 951 P.2d 226, 234 (Utah 1997), the trial court's determinations regarding the important policy considerations implicated in this case were not entitled to deference.

Moreover, the trial court's factual findings pertaining to the issue of standing – while normally entitled to deference, see Kearns-Tribune Corp., 946 P.2d at 373-74 – were not entitled to deference in this case. This is because the trial court decided the question of standing based solely on the affidavits and legal memoranda filed by the parties and the reports submitted by Dr. Sanders. The trial court did not conduct an evidentiary hearing, receive testimony, evaluate the credibility of witnesses, nor make findings resolving conflicting testimony. Thus, the Court of Appeals was in as good a position as the trial court to read the affidavits and reports, evaluate the evidence, and draw logical conclusions therefrom. See Brown v. Brown, 744 P.2d 333, 336-37 & n.1 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). The Court of Appeals was not required to defer to the trial court's findings on the motion to intervene, see In re Infant Anonymous, 760 P.2d 916, 918 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), and was instead entitled to review the facts pertaining to the motion to intervene *de novo*. See Bench v. Bechtel Civil & Minerals, Inc., 758 P.2d 460, 461 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). Petitioners' oft-repeated contention that the Court of Appeals did not properly defer to the trial court's findings and/or substituted findings of its own is grounded in a misapprehension of the foregoing principles and should be disregarded.¹

¹ Petitioners also attempt to dispute “findings” made by the Court of Appeals by citation to testimony adduced at trial. However, the motion for intervention was granted nearly two years prior to trial and conclusively disposed of the standing issue. At no time did the trial court take evidence or receive testimony prior to ruling on the motion for intervention, nor, clearly did the trial court rely on testimony adduced at trial two years later to make its ruling.

B. The Court of Appeals Did Not Err in Its Application of the Policy Consideration of “Preserving the Stability of the Marriage”

1. The Court of Appeals appropriately took a broad view of the policy goal of preserving marriage.

Neither Schoolcraft, nor any other reported case in this jurisdiction, has involved a challenge to the paternity of a child born into the marriage of a husband and wife who, believing the child is not the issue of the husband, agree that the husband will rear the child as his own as a condition of reconciling and continuing the marriage. The Court of Appeals did not err in determining that, under these facts, the policy consideration of preserving the stability of marriage does not lose all relevance, even though the particular marriage at issue had since dissolved.

In making this determination, the Court of Appeals did not “find” that the Pearsons’ marriage was intact, nor that a stable marriage between them existed, nor that Thanos was “at fault” in undermining the Pearsons’ marital relationship, as petitioners claim. Rather, the Court of Appeals explicitly recognized that the Pearsons’ marriage eventually dissolved. See Pearson v. Pearson, 2006 UT App 128, ¶ 21. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals properly recognized the importance of the Pearsons’ efforts to reconcile and to jointly rear Zachary as the child of their marriage, both prior to and after their separation.

In the context of this case, the policy of protecting marriage takes on broader implications than were present in Schoolcraft. The Pearsons, unlike Mr. Schoolcraft and his wife, who lived together for eight months and separated before any children were born of

their union, lived together for eight years and jointly participated in the rearing of two children. They subsequently separated, but continued to rear both of the children of their marriage jointly, albeit in separate households. The Pearsons' was not a marriage "in name only." As noted by the Florida Court of Appeals, "although divorce may separate and strain a family with children, divorce does not end the important child-rearing functions of the family." S.D. v. A.G. and J.G., 764 So. 2d 807, 810 (Fla. Ct. App. 2000).

The presumption of legitimacy protects not only the tranquility of an existing marriage and the legitimacy of children born into a marriage, but also the sanctity of parent-child relationships that develop in the context of marriage. From the standpoint of the child born into a marriage, the protection that is afforded by the presumption of legitimacy does not depend on the continued existence of the marriage, but to the contrary, acquires particular relevance when the marriage dissolves. Our sister state so recognized in In re Marriage of Freeman, 53 Cal. Rptr. 439 (Cal. Ct. App. 1996), where the court emphasized: "The state's interest in applying the [conclusive] presumption [that the husband is the father of children born into his marriage] is not limited to assuring adequate support for a child or protecting existing marriages from interference. Rather, as we have noted, the state has a well-recognized interest in preserving and protecting the dignity of parental relationships, especially when a marriage is being dissolved and instability is being introduced into a child's life." Id. at 448; see also Susan H. v. Jack S., 30 Cal. App. 4th 1435, 1442-1443 (1994)("The state has an 'interest in preserving and protecting the developed parent-child

and sibling relationships which give young children social and emotional strength and stability.’ This interest is served notwithstanding termination of the mother’s marital relationship with the presumed father.”).

The importance of the marital family as the basic unit of society is grounded in large part on the role that marriage plays in nurturing young children. “A child’s psychological tie to a parent is not a simple, uncomplicated relationship. A child requires from his parents not only bodily comfort and gratification, but also demands affection, companionship, and stimulating intimacy. Where these needs are answered reliably and regularly by the parent, the child-parent relationship becomes firm, with immensely productive effects on the child’s intellectual and social development. Where there are changes of the parent figure or other hurtful interruptions, the child’s vulnerability and the fragility of the relationship become evident.” See In re Marriage of Ross, 783 P.2d 331, 338 (Kan. 1989) (citing Goldstein, Freud, & Solnit, Beyond the Best Interests of the Child, 17-20)

Thus, while genetic testing has become scientifically reliable to the extent that even the highest standard of proof required to rebut the presumption can be met, courts have nevertheless sustained the mandate of privileging the marital family and protecting children from disruption of the relationships developed within it. In California, the courts sustained the presumption from the attack that it no longer bore a reasonable relationship to the facts sought to be presumed by designating it a substantive rule of law. See In re Marriage of Freeman, 53 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 445 (“A conclusive presumption is in actuality a substantive

rule of law and cannot be said to be unconstitutional unless it transcends such a power of the Legislature.”) (quoting Kusior v. Silver, 7 Cal. Rptr. 129 (1960)). This Court has also recognized that the presumption of legitimacy is grounded not in considerations of fact, but in public policy. See Theros v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 407 P.2d 685, 692 n.5 (Utah 1965) (“[T]he so-called absolute presumption of legitimacy of a child born in wedlock is based on considerations of public policy rather than absolute certainty as to fact.”). The stability of the parent-child relationships that are formed within marriage are of ongoing significance to the well-being of society and as such are entitled to the ongoing protection of the state, though the union between the husband and the wife dissolves.

In this case, the trial court’s finding that “the interest in preserving the stability of the marriage is not a consideration, due to the fact that there is no marriage to preserve,” R.983, ¶ 21, employs an extremely narrow view of the policy goal of preserving marriage. Father agreed to reconcile with Mother, and as part of that reconciliation promised to raise the child she had conceived of an affair with another man as his own. After having done so, and investing emotionally, financially, and in every other way in the child, Mother changed her mind, decided she would rather be with Thanos, and asserted that Father had no parental rights in the child that he had reared. The trial court endorsed this assertion, allowing Thanos standing to disestablish Father as the child’s father, and ultimately depriving Father of legal custody rights in the child, allowing him only physical access rights as a non-parent “third party”. Were the trial court’s ruling to be upheld, any husband who

finds himself in Father's position would be foolish to attempt reconciliation conditioned on a promise to rear the child as his own, knowing that the relationship he establishes with the child will be at the whim of the wife. Such a policy undermines marriage by discouraging reconciliation. Further, such a policy favors the rights of men who invade marriages and procreate with the wives of others, thus destabilizing marriages. The policy goal of preserving marriage can and should include fashioning rules of law that promote the stability of marriage by protecting instead the rights of husbands who attempt to preserve their marriages by parenting the children born into them.²

The Court of Appeals did not err in applying a broader perspective to the policy goal of preserving marriage to the facts of this case, disagreeing with the trial court's assumption that this policy goal loses all relevance when the particular marriage at issue ends in divorce. The stability of marriage is promoted by a rule of law that gives legal protection to the parent-child relationship that developed as a condition of the continuation of the marriage, and ensuring that that legal protection survives subsequent separation or divorce. The dissolution of the marriage between the legal father and the mother "does not change the preferred principle, which is to preserve the child's relationship with the social father, if

² The concept that rules of law that protect marriage may have continuing application, even though a particular marriage has dissolved, is evident elsewhere in our laws. An example is Rule 502 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, which protects spousal confidential communications after divorce, and even after death. See Edward Kimball & Ronald Boyce, Utah Evidence Law, 5-148 (2nd ed. 2004). The survival of the privilege, encourages open communication between spouses, thus protecting and promoting marriage, while having no positive benefit in application to the particular marriage that has dissolved.

there is one.” Ira M. Ellman, Thinking about Custody and Support in Ambiguous-Father Families, 36 Fam. L.Q. 49, 64-65 (2002); see also Susan H. v. Jack S., 30 Cal. App. 4th 1435, 1442-43 (1994); Steven W. v. Matthew S., 33 Cal. App. 4th 1108, 1116-17 (1995) (holding that extant father-child relationship should be preserved at cost of biological ties, though presumed father’s relationship with mother had ended). The Court of Appeals merely recognized that these broader implications are legitimately considered when analyzing the first policy consideration identified in Schoolcraft.

2. The Court of Appeals’ application of the policy goal of preserving marriage is consistent with the policies expressed in the Uniform Parentage Act enacted in Utah in 2005.

Petitioners cite a random selection of dated cases from other jurisdictions in support of the false assertion that “it is increasingly apparent that the presumption of paternity rule is being further eroded and limited.” In fact, the opposite is true, as evidenced by the revisions to the Uniform Parentage Act completed by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in 2000, as amended in 2002 (“Uniform Act”). The Uniform Act incorporates, *inter alia*, a strict limitations period and the doctrine of estoppel to all challenges to the paternity of children having a presumed father. See Uniform Act, §§ 607 & 608. It thus incorporates legal principles developed by courts throughout the country to address complexities arising from social and scientific developments that have resulted in an increased need to assign legal paternity where there is knowledge of a divergence between social and biological paternity. See Ira Mark Ellman, Thinking about Custody and

Support in Ambiguous-Father Families, 36 Fam. L. Q. 49, 51-55 (2002). Professor Ellman

states:

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